
Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  1 of 16 

SELINSGROVE BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, AUGUST 6, 2007 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Pres. C. Handlan, V. Pres. W. Reuning, C/P D. Anderson, 
C/P J. Herb, C/P M. Inch, and C/P D. Mengel 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT:  C/P W. Hetherington 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Solicitor R. Cravitz; Mgr. J. Bickhart; Mayor P. Carroll; Borough Treasurer Sheri 
Badman; Borough Residents Ron Cowan, Joseph and Margaret Siro; SARI Representative Brian Burke; 
Shade Tree Commission Chairperson Karl Maul 
 
OTHERS ABSENT:   Police Chief T. Garlock; Recording Secretary Dawne Long 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 
 
Pres. Handlan called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  Mgr. Bickhart called the roll. 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL MINUTES FROM MEETING OF JULY 2, 2007: 
 
C/P Reuning stated on the last page, at the bottom of the page, two lines above the end “Penn Street” 
should be “Tenth Street”. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to approve the minutes as presented.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

VISITORS TO BE HEARD: 
 
DH&L Fire Company – No report 
 
Brian Burke, Selinsgrove Area Recreation Inc. – Update on Selinsgrove Community Swimming 
Pool – Brian reported everything is going well at the pool.  The IRS has forgiven the tax penalties and a 
press release has been sent to the Daily Item to report this.  The relationship with the YMCA is very 
strong and positive.  The YMCA has been surprised by how many customers use the Selinsgrove Pool.  
Last Thursday the attendance was around 350 people.  Discussions are taking place for next year’s 
contract.  Brian will be meeting with Mgr. Bickhart to go over where the pool stands.  He noted that the 
time of 100% volunteerism to take care of things at the pool has passed.  Past Board members have 
been criticized for not putting money back into the pool for equipment and maintenance.  After this year 
the Board now has a true financial picture of what it costs to run the pool, which is around $80,000.  Two 
years of surplus monies, or savings, have been used to take care of infrastructure and maintenance.  
Brian wants there to be open communication and continuing dialogue between the pool and the Borough.  
Because of the level of volunteerism at the pool, maintenance happens only sporadically.  When 
something breaks it is more of a reactive situation.  Today the pool is closed for the first time all summer 
because a valve had to be replaced in a certain area.  Brian got some calls at work and Dave Stroup left 
his job to devote three to four hours to dealing with the situation.  Brian is hoping some interaction with 
the Borough will help with routine maintenance.  Brian noted that the collective community fundraising 
under SPI’s supervision has not progressed.  He stated the intent is still there to get community leaders 
involved.  The Pool Board has not heard back from the government yet regarding the feasibility study.  
This should be received by the end of the year.  C/P Anderson stated it would be helpful to know how 
some of the other community pools are managed if not 100% volunteer.  Brian stated they would need 
25 volunteers to keep things running smoothly, and they currently have 8 volunteers.  Pres. Handlan 
stated she is not clear on Brian’s intentions regarding Borough employees.  She asked if he is asking that 
Borough employees do the maintenance on the pool with the Pool Board reimbursing the Borough for any 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  2 of 16 

expenses incurred.  Brian stated he does not have a request at this time.  He is looking for routine 
support with a clear chain of action.  Right now most everything that occurs is due to the good will of able-
bodied volunteers.  He stated the Pool Board took action to eliminate the inconsistencies of staffing and 
experience by paying the YMCA to stabilize management.  Brian does not anticipate there being much 
savings left at the end of this year.  In the past, the answer to the question of whether the pool had 
enough money to get through the season was yes; however, for two years in a row monies have been 
taken out of the savings to deal with the infrastructure issues without raising the rates and doing some 
other things that need to be done.  Other monies from the savings were put toward the feasibility study, 
which cost between $12,000 and $14,000.  Brian stated the pool board is doing research on transitioning 
from chlorine gas to liquid chlorine, a system which requires less work and less expertise to utilize.  
Pres. Handlan stated that the pool is very important to Council and to the community.  Brian stated the 
pool has been keeping track of attendance from each municipality in the area and this data will be shared 
with Council.  This information could be used to ask area townships for financial contributions.  
Pres. Handlan asked how long the Pool Board is willing to wait on the joint fundraising effort from SPI.  
Brian stated the Pool Board is currently using all its time and energies just to get through the day with the 
pool so they have not had time to deal with long-term issues.  C/P Reuning stated it sounded like the Pool 
Board actually got money back from the IRS and Brian replied that they did.  Some monies did come 
back and other monies that would have come back were applied to other obligations.  When all was said 
and done the Pool Board received around $3,700 from the IRS. 
 
Ron Cowan, Selinsgrove American Legion Post – Request to close South Market Street Sunday, 
September 9, 2007 from 12:30 PM to 2:30 PM – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the American Legion has 
requested to close a portion of South Market Street on September 9 from approximately 12:30 to 2:30 so 
that they can have some additional room to conduct a dedication ceremony of their Victory Post #25 
Memorial Garden.  Because it is a state road, Mgr. Bickhart will have to apply for a permit from PennDOT 
to do this.  The suggested detour route utilizes West Sassafras Street, South High Street and Sand Hill 
Road.  Council permission is needed for Mgr. Bickhart to apply for the PennDOT permit.  Ron Cowan 
stated that he is the new commander of the Legion.  A young man in the organization decided a year and 
a half ago to properly glorify and honor those veterans who have fallen in the past and those who 
presently serve, so he constructed the memorial garden.  The dedication service will include a guest 
speaker and should last a little more than an hour beginning at 1:00 PM.  DH&L has volunteered a couple 
of their vehicles to drape an American flag across the street.  All visitors will be invited into the Legion for 
refreshments.  C/P Inch asked if the detour will be enforced by signs or if additional police officers will be 
needed.  Mgr. Bickhart replied it would be done similarly to the Market Street Festival, with signs and 
barricades.  It will be up to Chief Garlock as to whether it will need to be manned.  Mgr. Bickhart does not 
feel that will be necessary, but if so the Fire Police would be called upon for their assistance.  He stated 
the permit would actually be applied for by Chief Garlock and Betsy, who do the same for the Market 
Street Festival. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to request PennDOT’s permission to close the street and set up a detour.  
Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Borough Police Chief, Thomas Garlock – Presentation of Police Report for June 2007 – Mayor 
Carroll noted that the thefts were down a bit.  There was a slight increase in vandalism.  The man hours 
were reduced due to school not being in session.  Mgr. Bickhart asked about the Civilian Community 
Service Officer Program noted on the last page and whether this is the student intern.  Mayor Carroll 
replied that this is correct and Chief Garlock hopes to continue that program next year with some changes 
to allow the intern to actually go out and write tickets.  Mgr. Bickhart and Solicitor Cravitz will check on 
what would be allowed.  Chief Garlock is also interested in bringing the intern back over the Christmas 
holiday.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he did some research and found that it would take an amendment to the 
Borough Ordinance for anyone other than a police officer to issue a ticket.  The language would have to 
state that persons directed by the Chief of Police could be assigned to parking meter enforcement and 
other duties.  He stated Council can look at addressing this throughout the fall and winter to have it in 
place for next summer.  This would benefit not only the Borough but also to the intern in his training. 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  3 of 16 

 
SHADE TREE COMMISSION:  Karl Maul, Chairman – Karl reported two or three trees, maples and/or 
oaks, will be planted at the LifeTrail close to where the stream bends toward the trail.  The trimming still 
needs to be done because the man who did the climbing hurt himself a week before he was scheduled to 
work in the Borough and could not make it.  Karl checked with some other people and the prices were 
higher, so he is waiting for this man to recover.  He should be okay by now so the trimming will be 
rescheduled.  Some pruning will be done at the Pump House and at the Tree Museum this weekend with 
Dick Norman and some volunteers he has lined up.  Karl stated the Shade Tree Commission approved a 
request for removal of one dead tree on Charles Street.  Two Commission members have requested that 
they be replaced, so two new members are being sought.  Karl asked Council to let him know of anyone 
who might be interested.  Karl wrote an article on storm damage after the big storm came through.  He 
submitted the article to the Daily Item, the second time he has done so, and nothing was ever printed.  He 
stated he also put it on the Selinsgrove Shade Tree website, www.selinsgroveshadetree.org.  Karl stated 
it basically says that there was nothing that could have been done to prevent any of the major damage 
that happened during the storm.  The article also went into other things that people can do to prepare for 
lesser storms in order to maintain the health of the tree.  C/P Anderson suggested advertising the website 
in the Borough’s next newsletter.  Karl stated he already sent a copy of that article and another one to the 
intern who was working on the newsletter.  C/P Mengel suggested Karl use the Snyder County Times for 
his articles and Karl stated he never thought of them but agreed that it would be good to do that. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart stated that Ordinance # 759 is not ready for adoption tonight, and there is a question 
concerning two things that Karl had submitted.  There was a proposal to adopt some national standards 
and there were some proposed revisions to the ordinance itself.  He stated in his and Solicitor Cravitz’s 
reading of Ordinance # 759 they did not see where the regulations were being revised but they did see 
where the national standards were adopted.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the chapter Council is dealing with 
notes that the Borough will approve any rules and regulations promulgated by the Shade Tree 
Commission.  In Section 3 there was a typo which is being corrected.  It now reads “the case and 
protection of the shade trees” and it should read “the care and protection of the shade trees”.  Number 4 
recommends adopting pruning regulations, but Solicitor Cravitz envisions a series of steps starting with 
pruning and proceeding on to more expertise and other standards.  Karl stated that he did not realize 
there was more than pruning in the first draft he sent.  Solicitor Cravitz stated he will talk with Karl and get 
everything put together for adoption all at once.  Karl stated there are other regulations but this was the 
only copy he could find for free.  He stated it would be okay to do piecemeal adoptions, but Solicitor 
Cravitz noted it is cheaper as far as advertising to do it all at once.  Karl suggested tabling the adoption of 
Ordinance # 759, which had been scheduled for tonight, and he will meet with Solicitor Cravitz on this. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Review List of Council Issues – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the most recent draft the Landlord 
Ordinance has been given to Council.  It is not up for adoption tonight, but is for Council’s review.  
C/P Anderson asked if anyone from Susquehanna University has reviewed the draft and Mgr. Bickhart 
replied they have not yet.  C/P Anderson stated there were strong feelings from some of the landlords 
that dormitories should be included; however, a dormitory does not fit the regulation and she is not sure if 
what is being proposed means that the university must have every room licensed or every building has to 
be licensed.  She stated the university is already in compliance because of all the other regulations from 
the state that exceed what is in the Ordinance.  C/P Inch stated there was no one present from the 
university at the last two meetings.  He stated he is in favor of the regulation and he feels the number of 
exclusions should be kept to a minimum.  C/P Anderson stated that she reads it as applying to the 
houses along the Avenue, but she does not see how it can apply to a room in a dormitory that houses 
150 students.  C/P Inch stated he is a landlord and at least every two years he has inspections by the 
insurance company.  He also wonders about excluding motels and such.  He personally would like to see 
no exclusions, realizing CK-COG could do inspections much more cheaply per unit at the university than 
they could for someone who has a few rental units scattered throughout the Borough.  He would like to 
find a way to work with the university on this.  He was glad to see Mike Coyne at the first meeting but was 
disappointed that no one was there at the last two meetings.  Having a university presence may have 
helped with the negotiations.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the university had no interest in participating.  



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  4 of 16 

Pres. Handlan stated she thought the lines in question were to be taken out, but she was not at the last 
meeting.  C/P Anderson stated the lines were taken out but at the mass meeting with the landlords there 
was a hue and cry about it being favoritism to the university.  She stated it does not make sense to put 
the lines back in.  She feels the reasons for the exclusions of any groups that were excluded could be put 
in the definition section, noting that the obligations and kinds of inspections that they already have to 
meet are greater than what the Borough has in the ordinance.  This would include nursing homes and 
dormitories.  C/P Inch stated his feeling is that everyone is competing for tenants and that someone who 
is excluded is being given a small advantage.  C/P Anderson stated dormitories already have an 
advantage because they do not let anyone move off campus except by lottery.  She stated Borough 
landlords never get to compete for freshmen and sophomores, and they never compete for a tenant in a 
nursing home.  C/P Reuning stated he fully agrees with C/P Anderson.  C/P Inch stated the units on High 
Street do compete for tenants and he wonders where to draw the line.  C/P Anderson stated the 
document should be reviewed, not by Mike Coyne, but by the Residence Life people.  She stated the 
university already complies with many regulations and tenant agreements.  She stated when she was 
Dean she wrote things for the landlords to help improve the downtown, and the suggestions were 
modeled on things that were already in place at the university.  Pres. Handlan stated she does not see 
how the landlords can say the university has an unfair advantage, and noted that the landlords benefit 
from the university being here to secure most of their own rentals for the year.  C/P Herb stated the 
purpose of the code is to ensure that people who rent properties in Selinsgrove are in safe housing.  In 
that case the code is not needed to apply to Susquehanna University’s living facilities because there is 
already something in place that does that.  He stated he does not feel the competitive business 
atmosphere is the issue, but rather the issue is to have a fair instrument to provide for adequate, safe 
housing to people who rent property in the community.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that what he has distributed 
to Council is what he feels is the consensus of the committee that was reviewing this, based on all the 
meetings, discussions and assessments.  The university has been aware of this process and has not 
involved anybody.  Mgr. Bickhart did not make any special effort to force them to come or even to ask 
them to come.  He did review this draft and that particular issue with Mike Coyne, who had no problem 
with it.  He stated it is up to C/P Mengel’s committee to decide where this goes next.  Should it go to the 
university and the landlords with a comment period?  How long will the comment period be?  What is the 
forum to hear the comments that come back?  Pres. Handlan stated Council needs to comment on 
concerns such as the one raised by C/P Anderson.  She stated there should be a period of review for 
anyone impacted by this.  Mgr. Bickhart agreed that this is not the final document, but the second draft.  
There may need to be a third draft.  C/P Anderson stated she could take this to Phil Winger to review with 
his housing people and ask him to provide feedback to the Borough before action is taken.  C/P Inch 
stated if there are more meetings it would be helpful to have someone from the university present.  
C/P Herb stated it would be good to know that the university people are aware of the provisions and do 
not feel they would be a problem.  He does feel that they would be redundant and unnecessarily costly.  
Margaret Siro stated that at the July 9 meeting Brian Betz felt the university should not be exempt.  She 
asked if Brian has any say in what Council is doing now.  Mgr. Bickhart replied Brian will be invited to 
have a say about the draft and he wants to continue working with him.  He stated if Council authorizes it, 
the draft will be sent to Brian for distribution to the landlords and to the university and other parties, such 
as Mike Fisher with Market and High Street Manors.  Mike may already have inspections or activities that 
the Borough is unaware of that equal or exceed the proposals.  Pine Meadows may also meet or exceed 
the requirements.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is hard to exclude one entity without excluding others that are 
similar.  He does not see how a dormitory can be excluded but a project house not be excluded.  
Pres. Handlan agreed and noted that it is necessary to look at what all the other entities are subjected to 
in terms of regulatory compliance and inspections.  If they are already doing it, that is not the point of the 
ordinance.  C/P Reuning stated this would increase costs and it will ultimately be paid for by the students.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated Middleburg has an inspection ordinance in place.  The Snyder County Housing 
Authority is inspected by the HUD inspectors from Washington, which has much more stringent 
requirements for Section 8 housing.  Middleburg’s Council accepted that and exempted them from the 
inspections, stating that Middleburg is preempted by state or federal regulations which are more stringent 
than the borough’s.  They stated if those regulations changed then Middleburg would resume inspections.  
C/P Anderson noted that this does not mean the properties are exempt from inspections.  She stated if 
Council was saying that the university or nursing home individual rental units did not need to be 
inspected, that would be silly.  However, that is not what the Borough is saying.  Those units have to be 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  5 of 16 

inspected by a different authority with higher regulations than required by the Borough.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated the Borough would need some evidence of the inspections and their frequency because he is not 
convinced there are higher standards of annual or tri-annual inspections of dormitory rooms than the 
Borough’s Property Maintenance Code.  He stated the university and Mike Fisher need to be asked about 
what inspections are done.  He stated when he asked Mike Fisher in order to gather background 
information he was told that the inspections are spot inspections, not regular inspections.  They are not 
equal to what the Borough is requiring of rental properties.  The problem was that the committee could 
not come up with the words to define the minimum standard of prior inspection or inspection by another 
agency.  He stated that the committee just opted for the present language because they could not come 
up with anything else.  Pres. Handlan stated the selection of what was included and what was exempted 
was interesting.  She understands why spot inspections are utilized in some cases rather than having 
announced inspections.  C/P Inch stated the committee has moved a long way and is close to having an 
ordinance, but some issues still remain to be worked out.  C/P Reuning stated Phil Winger is the Dean of 
Students and he should have input on this, not Mike Coyne.  C/P Anderson stated she thinks the 
university does not know the exemptions were removed from the draft.  At the time Tracy Tyree was 
working on it with the committee the exemptions were put in.  Now there is a new dean and the 
exemptions are not in.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he explained to Mike Coyne before the last meeting that 
the committee was struggling with the university’s exemptions and they were leaning toward no 
exemptions because it was difficult to characterize them.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he knew if the draft 
would be adopted the way it is now there would be difficulties, so he added the cracked door policy in the 
exemptions that says “or as otherwise approved by Borough Council” which creates a framework for case 
by case evaluation.  If the property owner could convince Borough Council that their inspectors do a 
better job than the Borough’s, then Council could decide to exempt them.  Each exemption potential has 
its own nuance that makes it unique so they cannot be put into the same category.  Pres. Handlan stated 
the draft needs to be sent out and it should go to multiple parties at the university, including Mike Coyne, 
Phil Winger and others.  She stated the committee needs to understand that the exemptions are still in 
question.  She stated when it goes out it is fair for the appropriate parties to have a comment period.  
C/P Reuning stated C/P Anderson should hand deliver a copy to Phil Winger.  C/P Mengel stated she 
thought C/P Anderson should take over her position on the committee.  She stated it needs to also go to 
Mike Fisher and the Penn Lutheran people.  Pres. Handlan stated Council also needs to know what these 
entities’ regulatory requirements and inspections entail.  C/P Inch asked if the other entities being 
discussed received notice of the meetings.  Pres. Handlan stated they were never included.  
C/P Anderson stated she spent some time on the Board at Penn Lutheran, and their inspection 
requirements were quiet rigorous, with annual surprise inspections and other requirements to remain 
Medicaid eligible.  She stated the group that bought them then sold them again because they did not 
have any experience with the independent living apartments.  She stated she does not know the new 
owners or what is going on now.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the unusual living arrangements extend to assisted 
living facilities, which is what Loving Care is now.  It is licensed by the state but he does not know what 
the requirements are for inspections of an assisted living facility.  Pres. Handlan stated any entity that 
could possibly be impacted by this must get a copy of it for comment.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Pine 
Meadows did participate in an early meeting.  Margaret Siro asked if there are nursing homes in the 
Borough and if they are run by the state.  The answer was that there are privately owned and operated 
nursing homes in the Borough that are licensed by the state.  Margaret noted there has been a lot of 
investigation of nursing homes recently due to inspection issues.  Pres. Handlan asked C/P Mengel to get 
with Sheri to see that every entity gets a copy of the draft.  Mgr. Bickhart will come up with a cover letter 
asking for a response by the next Council meeting. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that the Selinsgrove Area School District’s Buildings and Grounds Committee 
wants to meet prior to making a decision on the Borough’s issues with respect to Weiser Run.  They have 
promised that the meeting will take place during August. 
 
The Borough is working with PennDOT to get a grade-all for the sediment in Weiser Run at Orange 
Street.  Corby met with some people at PennDOT today.  There has been a changeover in personnel so 
he is bringing the new people up to date on what the Borough hopes to accomplish. 
 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  6 of 16 

Mgr. Bickhart noted the abandoned vehicles list is still being compiled, as is an unsafe sidewalks list.  
C/P Mengel stated she has had complaints about junk vehicles at a property on Water Street.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated he has spoken with them and the police have visited to deal with some of the issues.  
Mayor Carroll stated he will ask Chief Garlock to follow up on this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the 
Abandoned Vehicle Ordinance has not been upheld when taken to Jack Robinson.  The police have been 
notifying people but not pushing it through to prosecution.  The Property Maintenance Code has different 
language in it.  With the current Borough ordinance there has to be some other violation present, such as 
a safety hazard, weeds or vermin.  The Property Maintenance Code just says an abandoned vehicle has 
to be removed.  That is why the list is being compiled, to address all the junk vehicles under that code, 
which will hopefully be more effective.  However, the result will not be known until the first person appeals 
to Jack Robinson and he makes his ruling.  Mayor Carroll stated there is also an issue with vehicles that 
are being worked on and are not abandoned.  Pres. Handlan noted that Solicitor Cravitz will check with 
Jack Robinson to see if there is anything that can be done. 
 
COMMITTEE / COMMISSION / BOARD REPORTS: 
 
FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE:  C/P Inch, Chairman 
 
Payment and Ratification of Bills 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to pay the bills.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Statewide Tax Recovery, Inc. - Exoneration Requests – One request from Philip J. and Lori A. Swartz 
for 1999; they were non-residents at that time. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel for exoneration.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Recommendation on painting old section of Borough Shed roof – C/P Inch reported that there is 
money to pay for this and the committee is recommending that it be done.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that 
Corby has asked if it would be possible for Council to accept the second low bid based upon the difficulty 
that Corby had acquiring a proposal from Nelson’s Construction.  Because of this Corby is not sure how 
they will perform.  These were telephone solicitations for quotes and not advertised sealed bids.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated that if Council does not take the low bid they have to be able to show a reason that would 
cause a person to hesitate to accept the low bid, such as lack of bonding, past poor performance, or 
familiarity with a person’s work.  Not being able to get hold of someone is not a valid reason.  
Pres. Handlan stated there is only a three-day difference in when the quotes were obtained.  
Mgr. Bickhart noted that Nelson’s proposes a three-year warranty on workmanship and the others do not 
specify any warranty.  He stated that based upon his own reviews, he sees no reason not to go with the 
low bid.  C/P Herb noted that Nelson’s quote also includes screwing down areas where nails were pulling 
loose.  He suggested specifying a time period for the work to be done.  Solicitor Cravitz stated Council 
could accept the bid with the provision that the work be done within a specified period of time.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated this process is very informal and did not include any specifications of that sort.  
Solicitor Cravitz noted that nothing is specified as far as cleanup and removal of materials.  The Borough 
may end up with a garbage bill or might have to dispose of the materials themselves.  The clarification 
was made that if a job comes in under $4,000 anyone can be selected to do the work.  If it is under 
$10,000 phone solicitations may be made rather than go through the formal bidding process.  
Pres. Handlan advised putting a time frame into the acceptance.  C/P Anderson suggested allowing 
Corby to make the decision, since the amounts quoted are under $4,000. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to authorize Corby to review the two bids and if it is under $4,000 and the money 
is budgeted that Corby make the decision he feels is best. 
 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  7 of 16 

Pres. Handlan stated she did not want to put that decision onto Corby.  She feels Council should make 
the decision.  The motion died for lack of a second. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb to accept the Nelson bid conditional on the job being completed within 60 days of 
August 6, 2007 and cleanup being done by the contractor.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Recommendation pertaining to the renewal of the Health/Rx Plan with a 12% anticipated increase 
in costs (proposed to be reduced by 2% with Borough adopting e-business program) and the 
renewal of the Vision Plan with a 7.29% anticipated increase in costs – C/P Inch reported the 
committee is recommending that Council renew the insurance plan.  They are also suggesting that in 
January the Finance Committee and Mgr. Bickhart begin researching alternate plans to bring costs down.  
C/P Mengel asked what the e-business program is and Mgr. Bickhart replied that the Borough will do all 
interactions with the insurance company over the Internet with the exception of the actual payment, which 
will be done by check.  Requesting cards, books, coverage limits, etc. will all be done over the Internet.  
Both he and Sheri prefer this, and it saves the Borough just over 2% to do it this way. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to accept the recommendation of the Finance Committee with regard to the health 
insurance for the employees.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
PUBLIC FACILITIES & SERVICES COMMITTEE:  C/P Reuning, Chairman  
 
C/P Reuning reminded everyone that the committee will meet Monday, September 10 at 1:00 PM for the 
2008 Street and Utility Program. 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATION / PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:  C/P Mengel, Chairwoman 
 
Review July 2007 “Draft of Drop Off Recycling Agreement with Lycoming County” – C/P Mengel 
noted that # 12 states that “if Lycoming County is prevented from performing its obligations under this 
agreement by virtue of any act of God . . . such failure to perform shall not be considered a breach of this 
agreement and Lycoming shall have no liability to Selinsgrove for any loss sustained by Selinsgrove as a 
result of the interruption of performance for any of the foregoing reasons and Lycoming shall under no 
responsibility to provide alternative . . . ”  C/P Mengel feels the word “be” should be inserted to read “shall 
be under no responsibility”.  C/P Anderson suggested it read “shall have no responsibility”.  Solicitor 
Cravitz suggested “shall have no responsibility”. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to enter into the agreement with Lycoming County for the Borough’s recycling 
program.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart asked Solicitor Cravitz if this process requires any kind of bidding due to the value being 
over the bid requirement limit.  Solicitor Cravitz replied it does not have to be bid.  Pres. Handlan called 
for a vote on the motion. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Pres. Handlan stated all the plastics are being commingled and she asked if the Borough would ever be 
able to collect all #2 plastics.  She stated there is so much being thrown away.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the 
Borough is at the mercy what Lycoming can get rid of, and at this point they cannot get rid of all #2 
plastics.   
 
Request from Interstate Batteries from Montgomery, PA to place a container at the recycling 
center for the collection of automotive and household type batteries – C/P Mengel stated this is just 
to collect batteries and there is no payment involved.  This is for all types of batteries, including flashlight 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  8 of 16 

batteries.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he modified something he had written for J.A.W.S. and if Council agrees 
he will submit those conditions to Interstate Batteries.  The container could be put at either end of the 
recycling area.  The container is acid-proof plastic so it will not leak.  Interstate will empty the container as 
often as necessary, and the agreement stipulates they can pick it up as often as they want but they must 
also respond if the Borough calls for a pickup.  Interstate has not seen the agreement yet.  The company 
takes batteries to a smelter to be reused.  Pres. Handlan asked if Interstate is doing anything similar with 
surrounding townships and Mgr. Bickhart stated they do this at other places but nothing locally.  
Selinsgrove will be the first one in Snyder County.  The container will be available the same times as the 
other recycling.  Pres. Handlan stated she does not want any of the SU people touching batteries.  
People will have to dispose of their batteries into the container themselves. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to authorize Mgr. Bickhart to pursue this with Interstate Batteries.  Seconded by 
C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS:  C/P Herb, Chairman – C/P Herb reported that 
signs for Pete Sears Alley will be put up.  Mgr. Bickhart will look into the cost of the brackets to hold the 
signs.  John Walter will help determine how the money will be raised to pay for the signs and the brackets 
and report this to Mgr. Bickhart.  The most appropriate way to inform the family will be determined and a 
ceremony will be held. 
 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  C/P Anderson, Chairwoman – No Report 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE:  C/P Hetherington, Chairman – No Report 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION:  Earl Moyer, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart stated he wants to get copies of their 
minutes to Council so they are aware of what is going on.  They heard a presentation from the architects 
for Susquehanna University regarding the university looking proactively into University Avenue and into 
dealing with concerns about pedestrian traffic across the street, which will be exacerbated with the 
construction of the new science building in the north parking lot.  The university also submitted a revision 
on the parking study that was done back in the late 1990s.  They looked at all the parking on campus, 
which is multi-functional for students, faculty, staff and visitors.  The university felt it was time to update 
the study and to advise the Borough of their current status regarding parking so the Borough would not 
require them to construct parking that is not necessary, or if there are parking deficiencies the Borough 
will know where they are and can work with the university on future projects to satisfy the parking 
requirements.  Because of the construction of the new science building in the north parking lot, parking 
will be relocated to the field behind Admissions.  The Planning Commission is considering the 
documentation and will have a recommendation for Council after their next meeting. 
 
The Planning Commission is also looking at the fact that the 2008 Street and Alley Program will most 
likely be a CDBG funded multi-year project to include curbs, sidewalks and pavement on Second Street 
between Walnut and Bough Streets, and Front Street between Walnut and Bough Streets.  John Coukart 
had asked Mgr. Bickhart what the Borough would want to do on the east side, which is the river side, 
concerning sidewalks or access.  This was addressed with the Planning Commission, who would not 
recommend pursuing anything different from what is there now. 
 
The Planning Commission is also considering the comprehensive plan update that Susquehanna 
University has agreed to put together as a beginning document to discuss changing zoning at that end of 
the Borough.  Mgr. Bickhart has a draft of that, and the Planning Commission will begin looking at this 
issue. 
 
ZONING HEARING BOARD:  Glen Rohrer, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart stated he wants to get copies of 
their minutes to Council so they are aware of what is going on.  Kevin Hicks of Icon Realty approached 
Mgr. Bickhart with a proposal to put a modular home manufacturing plant in the Creation Windows 
building.  This would add an additional building to the existing building.  Because of the way the 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  9 of 16 

Borough’s zoning ordinances are written, an existing nonconforming use, which Creation Windows was, 
can be replaced by another nonconforming use, which modular home manufacturing would be.  This 
decision is made by the Zoning Hearing Board and no one else.  This issue went to them, it was 
advertised, neighbors were notified, a hearing was held and the Zoning Hearing Board made four 
conditions concerning operations of the plant factors in their determination that this nonconforming use 
was more conforming than the past nonconforming use.  This makes the conditions more enforceable 
than just asking that they be met.  Representatives of the management, ownership and financing 
concurred that the four conditions were reasonable and acceptable and they were consistent with what 
they were planning to do to operate the factory.  The conditions have to do with access, truck access, 
deliveries, keeping things on Sand Hill Road and off of Market and High Streets, not creating litter and 
debris that blows around on site or off site, and storing materials inside buildings.  The Planning 
Commission looked at existing facilities around the area, such as Penn Lyon and Apex, to determine the 
best and the worst about them all and configured a list of things they did not want to have happen in the 
Borough.  Applications to the Zoning Hearing Board can be made as little as 15 days in advance of the 
hearing so there is not always the opportunity for Council to meet in between.  Mgr. Bickhart had taken 
this to the Planning Commission and then emailed Council members for their comments.  The Zoning 
Hearing Board determined that the modular housing factory would be a more conforming use, given the 
four conditions, than Creation Windows had been.  C/P Mengel asked what a conforming use for that 
property would be.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that sewing and assembly was probably conforming.  He stated 
that there are probably no conforming industries in the industrial zone, which by definition is very light 
industrial.  Raw materials cannot be brought in to manufacture anything.  Components can be brought in 
for assembly.   
 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION:  Dalton Savidge, Chairman – No Report 
 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD:  Richard Norman, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the 
playground program is winding down.  Pres. Handlan stated that Dick has been building a replica of the 
downtown at Kidsgrove. 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 
MAYOR:  Pete Carroll – Mayor Carroll reported that he attended the Mayors’ Conference and some 
ribbon cuttings.  He has been having sporadic meetings with Chief Garlock due to vacation schedules.  
Everything is completely moved out of the basement of the Borough building, and the mural is being 
moved.  Mgr. Bickhart reported the mural is covered and secured, and it is just about ready to be broken 
loose.  It will be put in the stairwell on the high wall inside the doors.  The mural is 8 feet by 7 feet.  
Mgr. Bickhart will turn it over to Jim Hartley to raise funds to mount it, if necessary. 
 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR:  Robert Cravitz 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 757, pertaining to updated Flood Plain Regulations and new 
Flood Insurance Rate Maps, effective November 16, 2007 – The Council meeting ADJOURNED to a 
public hearing at 8:56 PM.  Copies of the Ordinance were sent to all Council members, Selinsgrove 
Planning Commission members and the Snyder County Planning Commission.  No comments have been 
received, adverse or otherwise.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the Planning Commission considered this at their 
meeting and had no adverse comments.  There were no public comments.  The Council meeting 
RECONVENED at 8:58 PM.  Solicitor Cravitz will advertise the Ordinance for enactment at the 
September Council meeting. 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 758, pertaining to a change in the Water Rate Schedule.  
Notices sent to all customers that we believe will be affected by change – Solicitor Cravitz noted this 
has been properly advertised, with rates posted in the newspaper.  This Ordinance will amend 
Section 136-12, Schedule A, Water Rates and Charges of Chapter 130, Water in the Selinsgrove 
Borough Code.  Effective October 1, 2007 and thereafter the water system meter rates will be $3.90 per 
thousand for the first 6,000 gallons of water used.  The next 19,000 gallons will be billed at $2.70 per 
thousand, and everything over 25,000 gallons will be billed at $2.25 per thousand.  The minimum meter 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  10 of 16 

charges will also change.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he sent letters and copies of the Ordinance and a 
copy of the impact summary to all customers affected by this.  The only comments received were from 
Middleburg Yarn and Ted Fullmer, who did not like it and felt it was an impact on businesses. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to adopt Ordinance # 758.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5)  NAYS:  ONE (1) – C/P Mengel  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Review text of Retirement Agreement for Robert “Sheeny” Wendt – Solicitor Cravitz reported a 
revision was made so that the lump sum payment of $2,275 can be made up until January 31, 2008.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated this was at Sheeny’s request so he would not have too much income all in one year.  
He asked for the payment to be deferred to the next year.  The Borough had put it in the same calendar 
year as a convenience to the Borough in order to get all expenses in within one calendar year.  Sheri 
does not have a problem with holding off until January.  Solicitor Cravitz reported this amount does not 
have any impact of Sheeny’s pension benefits. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to authorize Pres. Handlan and Mgr. Bickhart to sign the agreement with Robert 
Wendt.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Status of Local Services Tax Ordinance preparation – Solicitor Cravitz reported he has received a 
copy the Act, which is 35 pages long.  He has not had a chance to read it yet.  This was enacted July 13, 
effective immediately.  It must be put in effect in the Borough by the end of the year.  The tax will be 
withheld from employees at a rate of $1 per week, to be paid to the Borough quarterly.  Mgr. Bickhart 
stated the entire ordinance needs to be rewritten and he is hoping someone else will do it before 
Selinsgrove has to.  He stated he does not envy Solicitor Cravitz the task of taking the law and writing an 
ordinance around it.  He stated the $12,000 earned income exemption language concerns him.  It states if 
someone earns less than $12,000 in Selinsgrove they do not have to pay the tax, even if they earned 
$50,000 in Monroe Township.  In that case Monroe Township would get the tax.  If someone earned 
$6,000 in a number of different municipalities they would not pay the tax at all.  C/P Anderson asked what 
the recourse is when the state legislature passes a law that is not manageable.  Solicitor Cravitz replied it 
would take a court case unless a legislator proposed a change.  C/P Anderson asked if the Borough 
should be writing letters of distress that an unmanageable situation has been created for Boroughs.  
Mgr. Bickhart replied that the Boroughs Association has already had their say and it did not do any good.  
C/P Anderson asked if the Boroughs Association could supply a copy of what they wrote so individual 
Boroughs and Council members could draft a similar letter.  Solicitor Cravitz replied it would be best to 
contact Russ Fairchild to ask him to draw up an amendment to overturn the bill.  Mgr. Bickhart stated 
there is not enough time for that now because the Borough must draft an ordinance before the end of 
December.  C/P Mengel stated letters could be sent in the meantime.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he will see 
Russ Fairchild tomorrow and he will mention this to him and see what he thinks.  He stated for the 
municipalities where the change was drafted it was a good thing, so it is not a universally bad law across 
the state.  The Boroughs Association magazine does not mention it at all.  He stated the bill was adopted 
last year at about the same time but the governor did not sign it because there was not time to implement 
it due to the mandates of advertising and publicizing proposed ordinances before adopting them. 
 
BOROUGH ENGINEER:  J. A. Coukart & Associates 
 
Update on pending projects 
 
University Avenue Sanitary Sewer – Mgr. Bickhart wrote a letter to PennDOT stating that Council did not 
feel it was fair for the Borough to participate in the project financially or through the Agility Program.  
PennDOT’s response was that they would put some asphalt on the curbs where they were low to patch it 
up.  If erosion continues, the issue will have to be resolved between PennDOT and the property owners. 
 
2006 Street and Alley Program – Payment will be released from the 2006 Agility Program. 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  11 of 16 

 
2007 Street and Alley Program – This project is underway.  Some soft spots were found on West Snyder 
Street and these will be resolved. 
 
Utility Program – There will be a preconstruction meeting soon.  G&R Charles will then start the work. 
 
Streetscape Phase II – The final inspection was completed by PennDOT with no outstanding issues 
found.  The retainage has been paid. 
 
Consider request from Mid-State Paving concerning charges of liquidated damages – Mgr. Bickhart 
has a letter from John Coukart, who had input from Corby Bowersox to document 55 days in which work 
could have been performed but was not.  Through the contract the Borough has the right to assess a fine 
of $100 per day, which would amount to $5,500 in liquidated damages against Mid-State Paving for this 
project.  The Borough has retained just over $9,000.  The proposal is to retain the $5,500 and pay the 
contractor the difference as long as everything else is okay.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that the contractor’s 
surety, or bond, will not be released until the Borough is sure he will not come after them.  C/P Anderson 
asked what happens if the contractor wants all his money.  Solicitor Cravitz replied that the contractor 
would have to bring a suit against the Borough.  It would go before the local magistrate first.  
Mgr. Bickhart noted that this is a firm position to take and Council has not always been this firm with 
contractors in the past.  However, the engineer believes that if ever there were a case where damages 
should be assessed for a project, this is it.  Mgr. Bickhart agrees with this assessment, stating he has 
attended conferences and heard promises made that work would be completed and then has seen no 
attempts made to complete the work.  He stated that in this case the Borough did have costs associated 
with the project, such as Corby’s and the engineer’s continual inspections of the project beyond the 
number of days that the Borough should have paid for inspections.  C/P Herb asked for an estimate of 
what those costs would be and Mgr. Bickhart replied he did not have an exact figure.  He stated an 
assessment of time might be able to be made, but he does not know how detailed Corby’s records are of 
his additional time on the project.  John Coukart probably has his time and his staff’s time categorized.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated he would not want to make a wild guess.  He stated that the contractual language in 
the Borough’s contract states that these things are very difficult to determine and there will be no 
argument as to the $100 per day, which is fixed regardless of the Borough’s ability to document its costs.  
C/P Herb asked why the contractor is being charged liquidated damages of $100 per day for all the days 
they did work between April 16 and May 31.  He asked if this is because the work should have been done 
before April 16 and Mgr. Bickhart replied affirmatively.  He stated these were days that were past the 
contract time.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the Borough gave the contractor every opportunity.  C/P Herb 
asked if the contractor walked off the job last fall when the project could have been completed.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated the contractor did not do the work in a timely manner.  C/P Reuning noted that PennDOT 
required the contractor to stop.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that PennDOT’s specifications were that the 
contractor could not place macadam after a certain date.  The Borough did not force them to stop.  
Mid-State is arguing that they took the Borough’s order not to pave as a reason to stop work.  However, 
the Borough is saying that they could have done all the other work except the paving, such as the 
preparation, excavation, culvert stormwater, etc.  However, the contractor just stopped and did not try to 
do anything more. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to deduct the liquidated damages and pay the balance of the retainage to the 
contractor.  Seconded by C/P Reuning. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
BOROUGH TREASURER:  Sharon Badman 
 
Review Treasurer’s Report for June 2007 -   Pres. Handlan asked if there were any questions on the 
Treasurer’s report.  Hearing none, she stated that it is on file for audit. 
 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  12 of 16 

BOROUGH MANAGER / SECRETARY / ZONING OFFICER:  Mgr. Bickhart 
 
Non-Police Complaint Update 
 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the dead bat issue was reported as a health matter and the reporter was surprised 
that the Borough was not in a position to take care of it.  She was referred to the Pennsylvania Game 
Commission and was asked to keep the Borough informed if more bats are noted.  Issues of rabid bats 
would be taken seriously by the Borough, but this was just a rumor of a dead bat with rabies being found 
at the high school.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this was not confirmed by anyone. 
 
Carson Kratzer and Kristin Knepp were trying to use the Borough to fight over a fence and Mgr. Bickhart 
put this back in their lap. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart inspected A. J. Sassaman’s neighbor’s property and the materials are not covered by the 
ordinance.  They are not garbage or rubbish but are household materials being stored outside.  There is 
nothing the Borough can do about this. 
 
An enforcement letter was sent to the property owner at 215 East Walnut Street asking him to address a 
violation of the lead ordinance.  Mgr. Bickhart has not heard back from him. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked what is going on at 117 University Avenue, where the porch and yard are filled with 
the entire contents of the house.  She stated it has been like that for a week or so.  This is the house the 
woman broke into a year or two ago when coming home, and got into bed with a child.  C/P Inch noted 
there is a white cat inside and a bird in a cage on the porch.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he will look into it. 
 
C/P Mengel asked what ever happened with the problem on Eighth Street in the house that the 
schoolteacher reported on a couple months ago.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the woman had passed away 
and some relatives were living there.  He got in touch with the mortgage company in Texas and their 
attitude is that they are getting paid.  Solicitor Cravitz told them the Borough is about to condemn the 
property and the mortgage company said they would look into it.  He got a call back several days later 
and said they are still getting paid, but they will refer it to their compliance division in Tallahassee, Florida.  
Solicitor Cravitz has not heard back from them.  He spoke with Mgr. Bickhart and Sheri about this, and 
the Borough is stuck because there is a single water service into a double house and the one side is in 
compliance and paying.  The water cannot be cut off to the side not in compliance unless another service 
is installed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the Borough is trying to work with the compliant side to try to see if he 
qualifies for CDBG money to help with the cost of the water main from the foundation into the building.  
The Borough, upon the advice of Solicitor Cravitz, is prepared to bear the expense of putting a water 
service back to the foundation wall but they cannot go from there into the building.  The person living 
there will have to do this part.  Once that is in and connected the cross-connection can be disconnected, 
the other property can be shut off and a process can be started using the unpaid water and sewer bills to 
resolve some of the problems.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he looked at the property and took photographs after 
the woman was at the Council meeting.  However, a lot of what she had mentioned had been cleaned up 
by the time he got there.  Some was still true, but it was true for both sides of the double house.  He could 
not cite one side for a Property Maintenance Code violation without citing them both and he did not want 
to do that at this point in time.  Solicitor Cravitz stated the Borough could spend money to fix the property 
and put a lien against it.  The proposed actions will take longer but will save the Borough money.  This is 
also the way things were handled on the Isle of Que issue. 
 
Update of PROPERTY TRANSFERS and BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED, Janet Powers, Deputy 
Zoning and Permit Officer – Mgr. Bickhart put together a summary of zoning permits and sign permits.  
He noted that the property transfer information is a problem between the Borough and the County at the 
moment.  He needs to sit down with them to find out why the Borough is not getting the information it 
should have.  C/P Mengel asked what the notation SFD stands for and Mgr. Bickhart replied that it is 
“single family dwelling”.  C/P Mengel asked why the people requested a zoning permit and she was told it 
was for building.  Sheri stated one is the building of a new structure where the house was torn down on 
the Isle of Que.  Mgr. Bickhart noted there is a vacant lot on Rhoades Avenue.  He stated some of these 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  13 of 16 

permits remedied problems that the Borough was having.  He stated there are some new businesses that 
have asked for signs, including the Sewing Shanty and Apple Country, which is where Basket Gourmet 
was.  Integrity Care was in the newspaper today.  Jacqueline Jordan, owner of the proposed new bakery 
on the site of the former Mr. Kelly’s Towne Tavern, was given an $18,000 micro-loan from SEDA-COG to 
purchase equipment and should be open in September.  The Ship Zone moved into where The Fly Strip 
was.  The Fly Strip went out of business.  Irene’s should open in another week.   
 
Award contract for Police Department Security Fence to low bidder – Mgr. Bickhart reported that 
Council should award the base bid to Apollo Fence in the amount of $2,595 to come from the $20,000 
grant for security measures for the new police station.  This will leave them with about $8,000.  Chief 
Garlock would like to consider Alternative Bid #2 at a later date.  This would add electric locks to the 
gates on the fence.  When an officer brings somebody in under detention they will go into the enclosure 
and the gates will close on a spring.  Once they are inside the fenced area there will be a loose control in 
that if the person in custody gets away he has to open the gate toward himself, which will give the officer 
some time to take him back into custody.  A better situation would be for an electric lock that would open 
with a key fob and then would close and lock.  Mrs. Nolder, the neighbor, was consulted and she stated 
she would prefer an open fence, such as chain link, which is what the proposed fence will be. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to accept the low bid of Apollo Fence in the amount of $2,595.  Seconded by 
C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Pres. Handlan asked if the fence will be in compliance with all the right footage.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the 
fence will not violate any ordinances. 
 
Additional letter sent to all persons owning property within the 100-year flood plain advising them 
of the November 16, 2007 effective date for the new Flood Insurance Rate Maps – Mgr. Bickhart 
reported this should be his last attempt to make property owners aware of this.  He got three or four 
phone calls this time from people requesting more information about how this will affect them.  The only 
new information in this letter was the November 16, 2007 date for having flood insurance in effect under 
the grandfathered provisions.  A database has been set up in the GIS system for all property owners in 
the 100-year flood plain.  This does not apply to the people in the flood plains of Weiser Run.  The 
grandfathering only pertains to properties in the areas where the flood plain changed. 
 
Acknowledgement of receipt of correspondence from Phillips Products pertaining to permanent 
closure of operation in Selinsgrove with permanent layoffs and terminations beginning 
September 10, 2007 – Mgr. Bickhart stated the Borough has received official notification regarding the 
closing of Phillips Products.  He stated he has been contacted by the commercial real estate developers 
who found National Beef to go into the property in Monroe Township.  The developers indicated they are 
working to do the same basic thing with this property.  They wanted information on infrastructure in terms 
of fire flows, pressures, sewer, etc.  C/P Inch asked if Phillips Industries owns the building and 
Mgr. Bickhart replied that it was Phillips or a parent company located somewhere else who owns it. 
 
Notice pertaining to ESCRA and an effective moratorium on new subdivisions and land 
developments in areas served by them and the proposed nutrient trading program for additional 
phosphorus loadings to treatment plant – Mgr. Bickhart reported he found out about this by chance.  
The moratorium is based upon some new nutrient criterion, and in this case phosphorus is the element 
that causes the treatment plant some concern in that when they went through the upgrade they built in 
treatment equipment to deal with nitrogen limitations and then were surprised to learn that the 
Chesapeake Bay Commission and DEP added phosphorus limitations.  The expectation is that the 
treatment plant will be able to comply but they are not in the position to grant any new subdivisions until 
they know for sure if they can comply.  It appears that a circumstance is set up wherein a developer will 
have to purchase phosphorous credits.  There are currently carbon credits where companies reduce their 
carbon load and purchase credits which are available in a certain quantity.  This is what the treatment 
plant will be doing for phosphorus.  Milton’s treatment plant has this ability and it appears there will be 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  14 of 16 

phosphorus credit trading in the future.  So until this is all resolved new subdivisions and land 
development in the service area is on hold.  John Abromitis has been asked specifically about projects in 
the Borough, such as new homes going on vacant lots or building at the university, and he indicated this 
should not affect anything within the Borough, just the townships of Monroe and Penn, who have 
developable land.  This will become a capacity issue because capacity is based on flow, nitrogen and 
now phosphorus.  Whichever one is limiting is the limiting factor.  This will have the effect of a treatment 
plant that is overloaded with phosphorus.  ESCRA is taking the position that the treatment plant is now 
just to the maximum loading and anything else will overload it, which is a violation of the agreements with 
DEP and their licensing. 
 
Reminder concerning a town meeting with U.S. Senator Arlen Specter at SU on Tuesday, August 7 
beginning at 9:45 AM in Stretansky Concert Hall in the Cunningham Center for Music and Art 
 
Reminder concerning invitation from Dr. and Mrs. Lemons for August 16, 2007 6:00 PM event – 
Mgr. Bickhart stated RSVPs should be given to Dr. and Mrs. Lemons, or Mgr. Bickhart can RSVP on 
someone’s behalf if they let him know they wish to attend. 
 
Drought Watch – Mgr. Bickhart reported that DEP declared a drought watch in Snyder County today.  
This is a voluntary 5% reduction in nonessential water use.  The Borough will not allow people to 
purchase water to fill pools.  The Borough does not have a problem with their water supply and is not 
imposing a water restriction.  
 
Susquehanna University Donation – Mgr. Bickhart reported that a $25,000 donation has been received. 
 
St. Paul’s United Church of Christ – Mgr. Bickhart reported that St. Paul’s has asked for permission to 
close Mill Street from Market to the alley behind the church for a block party on September 9 to celebrate 
the 225

th
 anniversary of the church.  This is the same day that the Legion is having their memorial garden 

dedication.  Pres. Handlan asked if this will impact the Country Squire, which is under construction.  
Mgr. Bickhart reported they will have access from the alley.  Others noted that the block party is on a 
Sunday but Pres. Handlan stated the Country Squire is running behind schedule so they may be working 
then.  Mgr. Bickhart stated normal procedure is that the church is required to notify in advance the 
property owners that will be affected by this.  He stated this is not a PennDOT issue so he is able to grant 
permission to close the street, which he has done as long as the church follows the conditions set forth. 
 
SELINSGROVE MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY – Donald Bottiger, Chairman – No Report 
 
EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY REGIONAL AUTHORITY – Bob Dagle and George Kinney, Chairmen 
– No Report 
 
NORTH-EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY JOINT AUTHORITY – C/P Hetherington and Mgr. Bickhart – 
No Report 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 
Vendor Waivers for Market Street Festival – C/P Mengel asked if Council needs to do this.  
Mgr. Bickhart replied that Council usually grants a waiver of the vendor fees for this event. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to waive the vendor permit fee for those participating in the Market Street Festival.  
Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Skateboarder Complaints – C/P Mengel stated that she has heard some complaints and concerns 
about skateboarders.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Mr. Cowan has been made aware of the circumstances at 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  15 of 16 

Orange and Spruce Street, with the congregation of skateboarders and the police involvement.  
Mr. Cowan took a personal interest and talked to the skateboarders.  He noted that the problem has been 
resolved.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is important to monitor complaints as they occur.  C/P Mengel stated the 
yellow curbing in that area is now black with skateboard marks. 
 
Emergency Access Road from Isle of Que to Bypass – C/P Herb reminded Council not to lose sight of 
this issue.  He stated if this requires County Commissioner involvement or Dave Nichols’ involvement or 
Council’s involvement he would like to see this move forward.  Mgr. Bickhart noted there is an access 
road there, but it needs to be improved substantially.  He spoke with Dave Nichols about it.  He has a trial 
application on behalf of Monroe Township with a deadline of September.  Dave would be in a position to 
assist the Borough in submitting an application for the emergency access.  He asked that the Borough 
update the cost estimate.  Mgr. Bickhart asked John Coukart to prepare a revised process and 
construction costs of the project to go in with the grant application.  However, the Borough will have to 
front monies with no real expectation that it will be eligible for reimbursement from the grant.  In terms of 
the cost estimate, it is not a big cost but the design work will also cost money.  Dave’s experience is that 
projects that people thought were eligible were turned down.  Therefore, there is no great confidence that 
this project will be approved.  C/P Herb stated that there is a safety issue involved.  He stated people 
assume the PennDOT bridge will hold but there was one time a propane tank floating down Penn’s Creek 
caused the bridge to be closed off.  He noted his appreciation of Mgr. Bickhart’s talking with Dave Nichols 
about this.  Pres. Handlan stated the emphasis will be put on the safety of the evacuation of the flood 
areas.  C/P Herb stated he thought some of the projects were prioritized in terms of counties and that this 
one had a high priority.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the county had more projects listed than money.  They went 
through the list and prioritized what they would endorse, and at that point in time the Borough listed an 
emergency access, the purchase of the fire company property and relocation of the fire company, and a 
number of property owners had agreed to consent to using federal money to buy their properties and 
demolish them, buy their properties and elevate them, or to assist them with installing mechanical 
systems inside their properties.  The county commissioners had to make a choice and picked projects 
with the greatest public benefit.  The access to the bypass had a very large public benefit for the entire 
population of the Isle of Que.  The fire company was the other project that they actually picked at 
$300,000 because it was a community service that was being helped to relocate.  That project is 
completed and the Borough would like to shift to the other projects, with the first being the access, which 
is listed by the county commissioners as a project.  There is some sense that the Corps of Engineers 
wanted everything on the list approved but because so much time has gone by things have changed.  
The project will be seen through until it hits a roadblock or an expense that Council will have to make a 
decision on. 
 
Library – Pres. Handlan reported no update on this situation.  The Library Board is in discussion with 
realtors for their property search.  She stated this will be a long process before anything really moves.  
C/P Anderson asked if Council should be doing something more proactive and Pres. Handlan suggested 
going before the Library Board to present the case of why the library should stay in the Borough.  She felt 
it should be more than just the Council doing this in order to make any kind of change in the Board’s 
thought process.  C/P Reuning asked if the letter that was sent made any impact and Pres. Handlan 
stated the Board criticized the fact that the letter came under Mgr. Bickhart’s signature and not from the 
Council, as well as the fact that the Borough did not step forward to do anything recently to get the library 
to stay here.  C/P Mengel asked what the Board wants the Borough to do to keep them here.  
C/P Anderson replied that the Board wants the Borough to pay for it and pay the operating expenses.  
Basically the library wants the Borough to do it for them.  C/P Mengel stated the Board was told they 
could essentially have the whole building.  C/P Anderson asked if Council can be proactive and press the 
Board for a timeframe to make a decision of whether to stay or go, or whether Council should talk to other 
entities to see what renovations the Borough would pursue to make the building a community building.  
She stated this issue needs to be brought to closure in some way.  Pres. Handlan stated there is no doubt 
in the Library Board’s mind that they are going.  C/P Anderson asked if Council should put a time limit on 
it, for instance stating that the library must be gone within five years.  The consensus of Council was that 
this should not be done.  C/P Herb stated nothing should be done tonight because it is too big and too 
important a discussion.  C/P Anderson asked if it should be referred to the Facilities Committee.  
C/P Herb suggested an off-the-record informal gathering of people to discuss this.  He stated he is not 



Meeting Date:  August 6, 2007  16 of 16 

sure what the Borough’s function in this is; however, he feels very strongly that the library and the 
community need each other.  Pres. Handlan stated that the library serves more than just Selinsgrove 
Borough; it also serves Penn Township, Monroe Township and other small municipalities.  That is 
something the Board is thinking of when they say there is no room in the present building and no parking.  
Pres. Handlan stated she spoke with the university last week and she has been asked on behalf of the 
Library Board to draft a formal letter to the university’s board of directors asking for use of the property 
that runs between University Avenue and Sassafras by the silk mill.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it would not be 
easy, but the land is developable.  Pres. Handlan stated that in that conversation it was also suggested 
that the library inquire about the property on the corner of Pine and Broad where the old fraternity house 
and several other houses came down years ago.  She stated the lot does not look big but upon closer 
inspection it is a pretty good size L-shaped property.  She stated she was surprised by this because they 
always wanted to keep some green around and that that lot would remain green.  If it means the library 
would remain in the Borough it would be a good option.  Mgr. Bickhart stated Council must talk about 
improvements that need to be made to this building.  Council should be prepared for this discussion 
during the budget process.  C/P Anderson stated that was her point, that the building should not be 
allowed to go to seed, whether the library is in it or not.  The building has issues that need to be 
addressed. 
 
Donald Foreman Situation – Pres. Handlan reported that she was contacted by Mr. Foreman again and 
she has asked for an update from the solicitor.  Solicitor Cravitz reported that he spoke with Bob 
Steinburg, the attorney for Mr. Andretta.  They have hired a contractor to come in and remove things.  
They are also going to start an action against Mr. Foreman regarding his chimney, which extends over 
the boundary.  It does not matter because it has been there for over 21 years, but Mr. Andretta and 
Mr. Foreman are threatening each other.  Pres. Handlan stated the situation is getting ugly and 
apparently will be continuing. 
 
Airport Thanks – C/P Mengel stated she went to the Zoning Hearing Board meeting, after which Glen 
Rohrer thanked Council for their support of the airport.  He stated there are municipalities around that do 
not support them.  Pres. Handlan stated there are municipalities that do not support the library either. 
 
MAYOR – Nothing further 
 
OTHERS – Sheri asked that newsletter articles be submitted by the end of the week. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Meeting adjourned at 10:05 p.m. 
 
Attachments: None 
 


